
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

 
Case No.: 1:17-cv-20931-UU 

 
CARLOS GUARISMA, 
  
 Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
HYATT EQUITIES, LLC, 
 
 Defendant. 
      / 
 

ORDER ON MOTION FOR CLASS CERTIFICATION 
 
 THIS CAUSE is before the Court upon Plaintiff’s Motion for Class Certification, D.E. 

37. 

 THE COURT has considered the Motion, the pertinent portions of the record and is 

otherwise fully advised in the premises. For reasons set forth below, Plaintiff’s Motion is 

DENIED.  

I. Background 

 On March 13, 2017, Plaintiff, Carlos Guarisma (“Plaintiff”), filed the instant putative 

class action, alleging one claim for violations of Section 1691c(g) of the Fair and Accurate 

Credit Reporting Act (“FACTA”), amending the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1681, et 

seq. (“FCRA”). D.E. 1. Plaintiff alleges that Defendant, Hyatt Equities, LLC (“Defendant”), 

willfully, knowingly or recklessly violated 15 U.S.C. § 1681c(g), which, in short, prohibits 

persons that accept “credit cards or debit cards for the transaction of business” from “print[ing] 

more than the last 5 digits of the card number or the expiration date upon any receipt provided to 

the cardholder at the point of the sale or transaction,”1 by printing the first six digits of the credit 

                                                           
1 15 U.S.C. § 1681c(g) provides:  
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card numbers, last six digits of the credit card numbers and the cards’ expiration dates on 

receipts given to customers who paid for hotel rooms using a credit or debit card at ten different 

hotel locations owned and operated by Defendant. Id. ¶¶ 1, 8-64.  

 In particular, Plaintiff alleges that at some point prior to April 2016, Defendant upgraded 

and implemented a uniform credit and debit card payment system, known as the Opera Property 

Management System (“Opera PMS”), which Defendant willfully, knowingly or recklessly 

programmed to display the first six digits, last four digits and the expiration date of the credit or 

debit card number on invoices, which guests could request either be emailed or printed at the 

front desk of Defendant’s hotels. D.E. 1 ¶¶ 43, 54-55. 

In the instant Motion, Plaintiff moves to certify the following nationwide class under Fed. 

R. Civ. P. 23(a) and 23(b)(3):  

(i) All persons in the United States (ii) who, when paying for their hotel 
room at any Hyatt hotel identified by Defendant or its records as using 
Opera PMS software during a time period the software was programmed to 

                                                                                                                                                                                           
(1) In general 
Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, no person that accepts credit cards or debit cards 
for the transaction of business shall print more than the last 5 digits of the card number or the 
expiration date upon any receipt provided to the cardholder at the point of the sale or transaction. 
 
(2) Limitation 
This subsection shall apply only to receipts that are electronically printed, and shall not apply to 
transactions in which the sole means of recording a credit card or debit card account number is 
by handwriting or by an imprint or copy of the card. 
 
(3) Effective date 
This subsection shall become effective-- 
 
(A) 3 years after December 4, 2003, with respect to any cash register or other machine or device 
that electronically prints receipts for credit card or debit card transactions that is in use before 
January 1, 2005; and 
 
(B) 1 year after December 4, 2003, with respect to any cash register or other machine or device 
that electronically prints receipts for credit card or debit card transactions that is first put into use 
on or after January 1, 2005. 
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print a point-of-sale transaction receipt that disclosed the expiration date or 
first six digits of the number of any debit or credit card used in that kind of 
transaction at that hotel, (iii) made such payment using a credit or debit card 
(iv) and were provided with a printed receipt. 
 

D.E. 37 pp. 6-7. Plaintiff does not offer any evidence, or otherwise proffer, any specific number 

of proposed class members. Instead, Plaintiff relies solely on unrefuted evidence that a total of 

219,087 guest checkouts were paid with a credit or debit card at Defendant’s ten hotels between 

April 11, 2016 and October 21, 2016, which is the relevant time period for FACTA claims 

brought in this case. Id. p. 6. Thus, Plaintiff asks the Court to presume that some number of 

these individuals, which would be enough to satisfy Rules 23(a) and 23(b)(3), requested and 

received a printed receipt. Id. 

 In addition to his briefing, Plaintiff submits the following exhibits in support of his 

Motion: (1) a list of Defendant’s ten hotels that used the allegedly unlawfully programmed Opera 

PMS system between April 2016 and October 2016, D.E. 37-1; (2) a list of the total number of 

guest checkouts paid with a credit or debit card for each of Defendant’s ten hotels, which does 

not “reflect the number of folios printed at the front desk at the time of checkout,” D.E. 37-4; (3) 

testimony from the deposition of Christine Shaughnessy (“Shaughnessy”), Defendant’s Rule 

30(b)(6) representative, D.E. 37-1; (4) Plaintiff’s receipt from Defendant’s hotel, dated August 

19, 2016, D.E. 37-3; (5) Plaintiff’s declaration in support of his Motion, D.E. 37-5; and (6) 

declarations from Plaintiff’s counsel regarding their qualifications, D.E. 37-6 through D.E. 37-8. 

 Defendant opposes Plaintiff’s Motion and submits the following exhibits in support: (1) 

the declaration of Shaghnessy, D.E. 42-1; (2) the declaration of Nicholas Windler (“Windler”), 

Global Account Manager at Oracle Corporation, D.E. 42-2; (3) testimony from the deposition of 

Shaughnessy, D.E. 42-3; and (4) Plaintiff’s Responses to Defendant’s First Set of Interrogatories, 

D.E. 42-4.  
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II. Discussion 

 A.  Legal Standard 

 A class action may only be certified if the court is satisfied, after a rigorous analysis, that 

the prerequisites of Rule 23 have been satisfied. Gilchrist v. Bolger, 733 F.2d 1551, 1555 (11th 

Cir. 1984). A plaintiff seeking class certification carries the burden of proof and must 

“affirmatively demonstrate” that all of the requirements of Rule 23 are met. Wal-Mart Stores, 

Inc. v. Dukes, 564 U.S. 338, 351 (2011); Rustein v. Avis Rent-A-Car Sys., Inc., 211 F.3d 1228, 

1233 (11th Cir. 2000). 

 As an initial matter, Rule 23(a) contains an implicit, threshold requirement that the 

proposed class be “adequately defined and clearly ascertainable.” See, e.g., Rink v. Cheminova, 

Inc., 203 F.R.D. 648, 659 (M.D. Fla. 2001) (citing DeBremaecker v. Short, 433 F.2d 733, 734 

(5th Cir. 1970) (“It is elementary that in order to maintain a class action, the class sought to be 

represented must be adequately defined and clearly ascertainable.”)).2 Rule 23(a) further contains 

four explicit prerequisites: “(1) the class is so numerous that joinder of all members is 

impracticable; (2) there are questions of law or fact common to the class; (3) the claims or 

defenses of the representative parties are typical of the claims or defenses of the class; and (4) 

the representative parties will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the class.” These four 

prerequisites are commonly referred to as “numerosity, commonality, typicality, and adequacy of 

representation.” Valley Drug Co. v. Geneva Pharm., Inc., 350 F.3d 1181, 1188 (11th Cir. 2003). 

 In addition to the requirements of Rule 23(a), a plaintiff must also demonstrate that at 

                                                           
2 In Bonner v. City of Prichard, 661 F.2d 1206, 1209 (11th Cir. 1981) (en banc), the Eleventh 
Circuit adopted as binding precedent the decisions of the former Fifth Circuit handed down prior 
to October 1, 1981. 
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least one of the three alternative requirements of Rule 23(b) has been met. Pickett v. Iowa Beef 

Processors, 209 F.3d 1276, 1279 (11th Cir. 2000).  

 Here, Plaintiff only argues for certification under Rule 23(b)(3) on grounds that “the 

questions of law or fact common to class members predominate over any questions affecting 

only individual members, and that a class action is superior to other available methods for fairly 

and efficiently adjudicating the controversy.” See Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3). D.E. 37; D.E. 45. In 

other words, “there must be common questions of law or fact among the class relating to . . . 

substantive claims . . . [that] predominate such that they have a direct impact on every class 

member’s effort to establish liability that is more substantial than the impact of individualized 

issues in resolving the claim or claims of each class member. Vega, 564 F.3d at 1270 (internal 

citations and quotations omitted). “Where, after adjudication of the classwide issues, plaintiffs 

must still introduce a great deal of individualized proof or argue a number of individualized legal 

points to establish most or all of the elements of their individual claims, such claims are not 

suitable for class certification under Rule 23(b)(3).” Klay v. Humana, Inc., 382 F.3d 1241, 1255 

(11th Cir. 2004). 

 A district court has broad discretion in determining whether to certify a class. Washington 

v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp., 959 F.2d 1566, 1569 (11th Cir. 1992). “Although a court 

should not determine the merits of a case at the class certification stage, the court can and should 

consider the merits of the case to the degree necessary to determine whether the requirements of 

Rule 23 will be satisfied.” Valley Drug Co., 350 F.3d at 1188 n. 15; see also Hudson v. Delta 

Airlines, 90 F.3d 451, 457 (11th Cir. 1996) (stating it is sometimes necessary to probe behind the 

pleadings before coming to rest on the certification question). 
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B. Analysis 

  i. Whether Plaintiff has standing 

 As a threshold matter, Defendant argues that the Court should both deny Plaintiff’s 

Motion for Class Certification and dismiss this case, in its entirety, because Plaintiff lacks Article 

III standing to bring the instant action. D.E. 42 pp. 12-19. 

 As set forth by the Supreme Court in Spokeo, Inc. v. Robins, standing requires a plaintiff 

to have “(1) suffered an injury in fact, (2) that is fairly traceable to the challenged conduct of the 

defendant, and (3) that is likely to be redressed by a favorable judicial decision.” Spokeo, Inc. v. 

Robins, ––– U.S. –––, 136 S.Ct. 1540, (2016). “To establish injury in fact, a plaintiff must show 

that he or she suffered ‘an invasion of a legally protected interest’ that is ‘concrete and 

particularized’ and ‘actual or imminent, not conjectural or hypothetical.’” Id. at 1548 

(quoting Lujan v. Defs. of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560 (1992)). “For an injury to be 

particularized, it must affect the plaintiff in a personal and individual way.” Id. (quotations 

omitted). For the injury to be “concrete,” it must be “real,” and not “abstract;” however it need 

not be “tangible.” Id. at 1548-49. 

 In addition, the Supreme Court in Spokeo recognized that “Congress may ‘elevate to the 

status of legally cognizable injuries, concrete, de facto injuries that were previously inadequate 

in law.” 136 S.Ct. at 1549 (quoting Lujan, 504 U.S. at 578). “In other words, the Supreme Court 

recognized where Congress has endowed plaintiffs with a substantive legal right, as opposed to 

creating a procedural requirement, the plaintiffs may sue to enforce such a right without 

establishing additional harm.” Guarisma v. Microsoft Corp., 209 F. Supp. 3d 1261, 1265 (S.D. 

Fla. July 26, 2016) (emphasis in original). 
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 Thus, the Eleventh Circuit recently held, in the context of the Fair Debt Collections 

Practices Act (“FDCPA”), that even without alleging actual damages, a “plaintiff sufficiently 

alleged a concrete injury because: (1) in enacting the FDCPA, Congress created a substantive 

right to receive the required disclosures in relevant communications; and (2) the defendant 

violated this substantive right by failing to provide such disclosures.” Id. (citing Church v. 

Accretive Health, Inc., 654 F. App’x. 990, 994-95 (11th Cir. 2016)).  

 In its response to Plaintiff’s Motion, Defendant argues that Plaintiff lacks Article III 

standing for two reasons. First, Defendant argues that Plaintiff fails to identify any concrete 

injury occurring as a result of Defendant’s purported FACTA violations, as Plaintiff “concedes 

that no third party gained unauthorized access to his Visa credit card account . . . that no third 

party misappropriated his partial credit card account number and/or expiration date from the 

folio he purportedly received . . . [and] that he has not lost money and his credit has not suffered 

as a result of any action by Hyatt.” D.E. 42 p. 13. Second, Defendant argues that Plaintiff fails to 

allege or identify any imminent risk of injury as a result of Defendant’s purported FACTA 

violation, as: (1) Defendant could lawfully disclose the last four digits of Plaintiff’s credit card 

and the expiration date; and (2) Defendant’s disclosure of the first six digits of Plaintiff’s credit 

card account “merely identify the issuer of the credit card,” are “not unique to Guarisma’s (or 

any other consumer’s) credit card account number” and, as such, do not lead to any enhanced 

risk of identity theft. Id. pp. 17-19.  

 In his reply, Plaintiff contends that this Court should follow decisions of “every court in 

the Eleventh Circuit to address the issue post-Spokeo,” which have uniformly “found Article III 

met in a FACTA case” where a plaintiff plausibly alleges that a defendant violated FACTA by 

disclosing credit card information and, therefore, subjecting a plaintiff to increased risk of 
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identity theft. Id. (collecting cases). In other words, Plaintiff argues that disclosure of 

information on a receipt in violation of FACTA constitutes a concrete injury for Article III 

purposes, as such disclosure violates the individual substantive right to privacy protected by 

FACTA. Id. pp. 4-6. 

 The Court agrees with Plaintiff. Every court in this District, including this Court, 

uniformly holds that FACTA creates a substantive right for consumers to have their personal 

credit card information truncated on receipts printed and provided to customers at the point of 

sale. Thus, where individuals, such as Plaintiff in this case, plausibly allege violations of their 

right to privacy under FACTA, courts in this District have unanimously found that individuals 

have Article III standing. Flaum v. Doctor’s Assocs., Inc., 204 F. Supp. 3d 1337, 1342 (S.D. Fla. 

2016), motion to certify appeal denied, No. 16-61198-CIV, 2016 WL 8677304 (S.D. Fla. Oct. 

27, 2016) (“Here, because the FACTA created a substantive legal right for Flaum and other 

consumers to receive printed receipts that do not disclose ‘more than the last 5 digits of the card 

number,’ 15 U.S.C. § 1681c(g), and Flaum personally suffered a concrete harm in receiving a 

receipt that violated the statute, he has sufficiently alleged an injury-in-fact so as to satisfy 

subject matter jurisdiction.”); Bouton v. Ocean Properties, Ltd., 201 F. Supp. 3d 1341, 1351–52 

(S.D. Fla. 2016) (agreeing with widespread authority that a plaintiff demonstrates Article III 

standing, by showing a concrete injury, where the plaintiff alleges that a defendant violated her 

“substantive right . . . to receive printed receipts that truncate their personal credit card 

information”); Guarisma, 209 F. Supp. 3d at 1265 (“Because: (1) the FACTA created a 

substantive legal right for Guarisma and other consumers to receive printed receipts truncating 

their personal credit card numbers, and thus protecting their financial information; and (2) 

Guarisma personally suffered a concrete harm in receiving a receipt that violated this statute, 
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Guarisma has sufficiently alleged an injury-in-fact so as to confer standing. Therefore, the Court 

has subject-matter jurisdiction over this case, and Microsoft's Motion is denied with respect to its 

jurisdictional arguments.”); Altman v. White House Black Mkt., Inc., No. 1:15-CV-2451-SCJ, 

2016 WL 3946780, at *5 (N.D. Ga. July 13, 2016), motion to certify appeal denied, No. 1:15-

CV-2451-SCJ, 2016 WL 9047107 (N.D. Ga. Oct. 13, 2016) 

 Based on well-settled case law, the Court concludes that Plaintiff has, without question, 

pleaded a concrete injury, such that Plaintiff has Article III standing. Wood v. Choo USA, Inc., 

2016 WL 4249953 (S.D. Fla. Aug. 11, 2016) (“Through FACTA, Congress created a substantive 

legal right for Wood and other card-holding consumers similarly situated to receive receipts 

truncating their personal credit card numbers and expiration dates and, thus, protecting their 

personal financial information.”); Amason v. Kangaroo Exp., 2013 WL 987935, at *4 (N.D. Ala. 

Mar. 11, 2013) (“[T]he statutory provisions invoked by Plaintiffs, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1681c(g) and 

1681n, create a substantive right to have one's financial information protected through truncation 

and also provide a procedural right to enforce that truncation.”). 

  ii. Whether the putative class is adequately defined and clearly ascertainable 

 Rule 23 includes an implied threshold requirement that the proposed class be “adequately 

defined and clearly ascertainable.” See, e.g., Rink, 203 F.R.D. at 659. “The Court must be able to 

look to objective criteria to accurately delineate membership in the class and identifying class 

members must be a manageable process that requires little individual inquiry.” Gregware v. 

Scotts Miracle-gro Co. & The Scotts Co., LLC, No. 1:13-CV-24581-UU, 2014 WL 12531536, at 

*3 (S.D. Fla. Oct. 20, 2014). 

 As stated above, Plaintiff seeks to certify the following class: 

(i) All persons in the United States (ii) who, when paying for their hotel 
room at any Hyatt hotel identified by Defendant or its records as using 
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Opera PMS software during a time period the software was programmed to 
print a point-of-sale transaction receipt that disclosed the expiration date or 
first six digits of the number of any debit or credit card used in that kind of 
transaction at that hotel, (iii) made such payment using a credit or debit card 
(iv) and were provided with a printed receipt. 
 

D.E. 37 pp. 6-7.  

 Defendant contends that Plaintiff fails to meet his burden of showing that the proposed 

class be “adequately defined and clearly ascertainable” for two main reasons. First, Defendant 

argues that while record evidence shows that 219,087 hotel guests paid with a credit or debit card 

at Defendant’s hotels between April 2016 and October 2016, there is no evidence whatsoever to 

indicate which, or how many, of these 219,087 hotel guests actually requested that Defendant 

print their receipt during checkout. In other words, “the transaction-related information stored in 

the Opera PMS does not (and cannot) establish which guests received a printed folio when 

checking out at the front-desk.” D.E. 42 p. 20. “That information—which is essential to 

Guarisma’s efforts to certify a putative class of guests who received a printed folio when 

checking out at the front-desk during the applicable timeframe—does not exist.” Id. This is 

crucial because under Section 1691c(g), Defendant is only liable if it provided a receipt “to the 

cardholder at the point of the sale or transaction.” 15 U.S.C. § 1681c(g)(1). Thus, Defendant 

argues that Plaintiff cannot establish ascertainability by guessing that some of these 219,087 

guests were provided with receipts at the “point of sale or transaction;” instead, Plaintiff must 

show that identification of individuals receiving printed receipts at the point of sale or transaction 

is both possible and “administratively feasible.” Id. (internal citations omitted).  

 In addition, Defendant argues that Plaintiff cannot demonstrate that the “proposed class is 

ascertainable based upon a theory that guests could self-identify as members of the putative class 

through an affidavit” because: (1) Plaintiff did not argue this in his Motion and, therefore, 
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waived the argument; (2) allowing class members to self-identify, without affording defendants 

the opportunity to challenge class membership, would violate Defendant’s due process rights 

under binding Eleventh Circuit precedent; and (3) allowing Defendant’s to challenge each 

potential class member’s affidavit would require a “series of mini-trials just to evaluate the 

threshold issue of which [persons] are class members.” Id. p. 22, n. 7 (citing Karhu v. Vital 

Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 621 F. App’x 945, 948-49 (11th Cir. 2015)). 

 Plaintiff responds in three principal ways. First, Plaintiff argues, in conclusory fashion, 

that ascertaining the class is “not difficult” because “membership is based on objective criteria 

(electronically-recorded card transaction data), and requires no significant individual inquiry.” 

D.E. 37 p. 7. Second, Plaintiff argues that any of the potential 219,087 class members “who wish 

to present a claim, at the appropriate time, can either provide a copy of their receipt or affirm to 

having received one.” D.E. 45 p. 7. Lastly, Plaintiff argues that the Court should not deny 

certification—even if Plaintiff fails to meet its burden of proving that a class is readily 

ascertainable—because denying certification where Defendant failed to keep appropriate records 

would “create the ‘perverse incentive’ for entities to keep poor records.” Id. p. 9. 

 The Court agrees with Defendant and finds that Plaintiff falls well short of meeting its 

burden of presenting an “adequately defined and clearly ascertainable class,” which could be 

ascertained based on “objective criteria.” Rink, 203 F.R.D. at 659; Gregware, 2014 WL 

12531536, at *6. This is true for two reasons. 

 First, Plaintiff offers no evidence whatsoever to show how many, if any, of the 219,087 

hotel guests after paying with credit or debit card at Defendant’s ten hotels received a printed 

“receipt provided to the cardholder at the point of the sale or transaction.” D.E. 37; D.E. 45; see 

also 15 U.S.C. § 1681c(g)(1). Instead, Plaintiff only argues that putative class members could 
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file their printed receipts or, alternatively, affidavits, to support their contention that they 

received printed receipts at the time of checkout. D.E. 45 p. 7. This is plainly inadequate to meet 

Plaintiff’s burden of proving ascertainability under Rule 23. As the Eleventh Circuit has made 

clear, a “plaintiff cannot establish ascertainability simply by asserting that class members can be 

identified using the defendant's records; the plaintiff must also establish that the records are in 

fact useful for identification purposes, and that identification will be administratively feasible.” 

Karhu, 621 F. App’x at 948 (internal citations omitted); Hill v. T-Mobile USA, Inc., No. 2:09-

CV-1827-VEH, 2011 WL 10958888, at *10-11 (N.D. Ala. May 16, 2011) (denying class 

certification where Plaintiff failed to “address[] how to effectively . . . [ascertain] those persons 

who would potentially be . . . [members of the class], absent undergoing an individualized 

inquiry”); Grimes v. Rave Motion Pictures Birmingham, L.L.C., 264 F.R.D. 659, 665 (N.D. Ala. 

2010) (denying class certification in similar FACTA case because the defendant “does not 

maintain, nor has it ever maintained, a database or any paper record that preserves information 

sufficient to allow identification of any member of this proposed class”).  

 Here, the unrefuted evidence shows that Plaintiff cannot identify class members using 

Defendant’s records. D.E. 42-1 ¶ 5 (unrefuted sworn declaration stating that “[i]f a front-desk 

agent prints a folio when requested to do so by a guest at the time of checkout, the OPERA PMS 

does not store or retain an image of the folio as printed and provided to the guest”); D.E. 42-2 ¶ 8 

(unrefuted sworn declaration stating that “OPERA does not create any record, log or audit trial to 

identify which guests were provided with a printed folio, at check-out or any other time, and thus 

there is no way to query the system to ascertain if a folio was printed for a guest”); D.E. 45 p. 7. 

Instead, the only mechanism that either party presents to identify class members would be for 

class members to either produce their hotel receipts or file affidavits with the Court. See, e.g., 
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D.E. 45 p. 7 (Plaintiff arguing that “[t]hose of the potential 219,087 class members who wish to 

present a claim, at the appropriate time, can either provide a copy of their receipt or affirm to 

having received one”). 

 Second, neither providing receipts nor filing affidavits would allow the Court to identify 

class members in an “administratively feasible” way. In short, if the Court were to permit class 

members to file their hotel receipts or submit affidavits as evidence that they receipted printed 

receipts at the “point of the sale or transaction,” 15 U.S.C. § 1681c(g)(1), Defendant would have 

the right to challenge: (1) whether these receipts were provided by Defendant at the point of the 

sale or transaction; or (2) whether the affidavits should be accepted as proof of membership in 

the class. Then, the Court would need to determine whether each individual putative class 

member is, in fact, a member of the class. This process would result in thousands or, possibly, 

hundreds of thousands of mini-trials, which would render Plaintiff’s proposed class entirely 

unmanageable and, based on Eleventh Circuit precedent, not ascertainable under Rule 23(a). 

Karhu, 621 F. App’x at 950; Bussey, 562 F. App’x at 787-88 (noting that an identifiable class 

exists if a court can, based on objective criteria, identify class members in a “manageable process 

that does not require much, if any, individual inquiry” (internal citations omitted)); Gazzara v. 

Pulte Home Corp., No. 616CV657ORL31TBS, 2017 WL 1331364, at *4 (M.D. Fla. Apr. 11, 

2017) (“The Plaintiffs argue that class members can self-identify, but the prospect of thousands 

of mini-trials (as Pulte challenges the homeowners’ membership in the class) renders that 

process administratively infeasible.”); Grimes, 264 F.R.D. at 665 (denying class certification 

where there was “no way to determine who was or was not issued a FACTA non-compliant 

receipt by Rave, except for those issued to Grimes, or to unknown and virtually unknowable 

persons who may have received and for some reason preserved them,” as “certification of 
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plaintiff’s class would require the court to examine the receipts of self-identified members of the 

class, whether cajoled and prompted or not, in order to determine their status”). 

 The Court need not address the remaining factors under Rule 23(a) and Rule 23(b)(3). 

Nonetheless, in the interest of thoroughness, the Court will address each of these factors in turn.  

  iii. Rule 23(a) 

a. Numerosity 

 Under Rule 23(a), the Court first determines whether the proposed class “is so numerous 

that joinder of all members is impracticable.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(1). Numerosity is “generally 

a low hurdle.” Vega v. T-Mobile USA, Inc., 564 F.3d 1256, 1267 (11th Cir. 2009). “[W]hile there 

is no fixed numerosity rule, generally less than twenty-one is inadequate, more than forty 

adequate, with numbers between varying according to other factors.” Cox v. Am. Cost Iron Pipe 

Co., 784 F.2d 1546, 1553 (11th Cir. 1986) (internal quotations and citations omitted). However, 

the “focus of the numerosity inquiry is not whether the number of class members is ‘too few’ to 

satisfy the rule, but ‘whether joinder of the proposed class members is impracticable.’” Legg v. 

Voice Media Grp. Inc., Civ. A. No. 13-62044, 2014 WL 1766961, at *2 (S.D. Fla. May 5, 2014) 

(quoting Armstead v. Pingree, 620 F. Supp. 273, 279 (M.D. Fla. 1986)). 

 Here, Plaintiff fails to meet his burden of proving numerosity because he does not 

“provide factual support for his contentions regarding the size of the class.” See, e.g., Legg, 2014 

WL 1766961, at *2. In other words, Plaintiff only argues that the proposed class satisfies 

numerosity because 219,087 individuals paid Defendant via credit or debit card while Defendant 

used the Opera PMS system programmed to disclose credit card information in violation of 

FACT, and “even if 1% of guests requested a printed receipt at checkout,” Plaintiff would satisfy 

the numerosity requirement of Rule 23. But Plaintiff’s argument directly contradicts binding 

Case 1:17-cv-20931-UU   Document 50   Entered on FLSD Docket 09/28/2017   Page 14 of 24



15 
 

Eleventh Circuit precedent, which makes clear that Plaintiff “cannot satisfy the numerosity 

requirement through speculation” alone. Vega, 564 F.3d at 1267-68 (holding that district court 

abused its discretion in finding numerous requirement satisfied where district court inferred 

numerosity based on “sheer speculation”); Cabrera v. Gov’t Employees Ins. Co., No. 12-61390-

CIV, 2014 WL 11894430, at *2 (S.D. Fla. Sept. 29, 2014) (holding that plaintiff failed to satisfy 

numerosity requirement where “[n]one of the parties have cited any evidence in the record 

identifying what percentage of the 3,000 files involved calls” that would render individuals 

members of the proposed class); Ritchie v. Mueller Servs., Inc., No. 12-80976-CIV, 2013 WL 

12095563, at *5 (S.D. Fla. Apr. 18, 2013) (“Noting that the burden to satisfy numerosity is on 

the plaintiff seeking to certify a class, and that a plaintiff is not permitted to make a purely 

speculative showing that numerosity has been met, the Court finds that Plaintiff has not met her 

burden.”); Colomar v. Mercy Hosp., Inc., 242 F.R.D. 671, 676 (S.D. Fla. 2007) (denying 

certification where the plaintiff offered “no means for rationally estimating which number of the 

total uninsureds are class members,” as the plaintiff “cannot simply rely on the 24,000 figure and 

ask the Court to infer that a minimum number paid the full bill given the sheer size of the 

uninsured pool”). 

b. Commonality 

 While commonality and typicality are often conflated, “traditionally, commonality refers 

to the group characteristics of the class as a whole, while typicality refers to the individual 

characteristics of the named plaintiff in relation to the class.” Vega, 564 F.3d at 1275 (quoting 

Piazza v. Ebsco Indus., Inc., 273 F.3d 1341, 1346 (11th Cir. 2001)). “The commonality 

requirement demands only that there be ‘questions of law or fact common to the class.’” Id. at 

1268 (quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)).  
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 Commonality is also a “low hurdle.” Williams v. Mohawk Indus., 568 F.3d 1350, 1356 

(11th Cir. 2009). Accordingly, the inquiry concerning commonality is entirely distinct from the 

predominance inquiry under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3). Id. at 1268 (internal citation and quotations 

omitted). In contrast to the more in-depth inquiry of predominance under Rule 23(b)(3), the 

commonality inquiry under Rule 23(a) requires that a court determine whether a plaintiff 

satisfies the “relatively light burden” that the class action will “involve issues that are susceptible 

to class-wide proof.” Id. at 1268, 1270 (quoting Murray v. Auslander, 244 F.3d 807, 811 (11th 

Cir. 2001)); see also Mohawk Indus., Inc., 568 F.3d at 1355 (“Commonality requires that there 

be at least one issue whose resolution will affect all or a significant number of the putative class 

members.”); Jackson v. Motel 6 Multipurpose, Inc., 130 F.3d 999, 1005 (11th Cir. 1997) (“The 

predominance inquiry focuses on the legal or factual questions that qualify each class member’s 

case as a genuine controversy, and is far more demanding than Rule 23(a)’s commonality 

requirement.” (internal quotations and citations omitted)). The commonality requirement is 

generally met where allegations involve a common course of conduct by the defendant. 

Physicians Healthsource, Inc. v. Doctor Diabetic Supply, LLC, No. 12-22330-CIV, 2014 WL 

7366255, at *5 (S.D. Fla. Dec. 24, 2014). 

 Plaintiff argues that he has satisfied the commonality requirement under Rule 23(a) 

because there are at least two common issues affecting each class member, which are: (1) 

“whether the receipts Defendant’s Opera PMS system printed for class members violated 

FACTA’s truncation requirement;” and (2) “whether Defendant acted willfully, so that the class 

members may recover statutory and punitive damages.” D.E. 37 p. 9. Defendant does not contest 

that Plaintiff satisfies the commonality requirement under Rule 23(a). D.E. 42.    
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 Plaintiff has met his low burden of demonstrating commonality because Plaintiff’s and 

proposed class members’ allegations “involve a common course of conduct by the defendant”—

namely whether Defendant knowingly, willfully or recklessly violated FACTA by “print[ing] 

more than the last 5 digits of the card number or the expiration date upon any receipt provided to 

the cardholder at the point of the sale or transaction.” See 15 U.S.C. § 1681c(g); Gregware, 2014 

WL 12531536, at *5 (“Even a single common question will satisfy the commonality requirement 

and as a result, not all questions of law and fact raised in this litigation need be common to the 

class.”); Physicians Healthsource, Inc., 2014 WL 7366255, at *5.  

c. Typicality 

 “A class representative must possess the same interest and suffer the same injury as the 

class members in order to be typical under Rule 23(a)(3).” Murray v. Auslander, 244 F.3d 807, 

811 (11th Cir. 2001). “The focus of typicality is whether the class representative’s interest is 

aligned enough with the proposed class members to stand in their shoes for purposes of the 

litigation and bind them in a judgment on the merits.” Colomar v. Mercy Hosp., Inc., 242 F.R.D. 

671, 677 (S.D. Fla. 2007). “In other words, there must be a nexus between the class 

representative’s claims or defenses and the common questions of fact or law which unite the 

class.” Kornberg v. Carnival Cruise Lines, Inc., 741 F.2d 1332, 1337 (11th Cir. 1984). “A 

sufficient nexus is established if the claims or defenses of the class and the class representative 

arise from the same event or pattern or practice and are based on the same legal theory.” Id. 

Typicality “does not require identical claims or defenses.” Id. 

 The Court concludes that Plaintiff satisfies the typicality requirement because Plaintiff, 

like each of the proposed, but unascertainable, class members, was allegedly provided with a 

printed receipt with “more than the last 5 digits of the card number or the expiration date upon 
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any receipt provided to the cardholder at the point of the sale or transaction.” 15 U.S.C. § 

1681c(g); see also Palm Beach Golf Ctr.-Boca, Inc. v. Sarris, 311 F.R.D. 688, 696 (S.D. Fla. 

2015) (finding typicality requirement satisfied where the defendant “purportedly sent the same 

fax and each class member’s claim is based on the same legal theory and same set of facts as 

Plaintiff’s claim”). 

d. Adequacy of Representation 

 A court must also determine whether a class representative “will fairly and adequately 

protect the interests of the class.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(4); Kirkpatrick v. J.C. Bradford & Co., 

827 F.2d 718, 726 (11th Cir. 1987). Courts engage in a two-step inquiry. First, a court 

determines whether any substantial conflicts of interest exist between the class representative and 

putative class members. Kirkpatrick, 827 F.2d at 726; Griffin v. Carlin, 755 F.2d 1516, 1532 

(11th Cir.1985). Next, a court determines whether “plaintiffs’ counsel are qualified, experienced, 

and generally able to conduct the proposed litigation.” Kirkpatrick, 827 F.2d at 726.  

 The parties do not dispute that Plaintiff’s counsel are qualified, but instead only contest 

whether Plaintiff is an adequate class representative. In particular, Defendant argues that Plaintiff 

is not an adequate representative because Plaintiff: (1) did not immediately contact Defendant to 

alert it to the fact that he had allegedly received a receipt that violates FACTA; (2) “silently 

waited more than six (6) months to file this lawsuit; and (3) therefore “potentially expose[d] 

those absent class members to an elevated risk of identity theft.” D.E. 42 pp. 25-26. For these 

reasons, Defendant asks the Court to conclude that “Guarisma lacks the personal characteristics 

and integrity necessary to fulfill the role of class representative in this matter.” Id. p. 26.  

 Defendant’s arguments have no merit. Because Plaintiff is not antagonistic to putative 

class members, has no conflict of interest with putative class members, and is represented by 
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qualified counsel, the Court concludes that Plaintiff is an adequate class representative in this 

case. See, e.g., Valley Drug Co. v. Geneva Pharm., Inc., 350 F.3d 1181, 1189 (11th Cir. 2003); 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(4). 

  iii. Rule 23(b)(3)  

 Rule 23(b)(3) requires a plaintiff to establish that “the questions of law or fact common to 

class members predominate over any questions affecting only individual members, and that a 

class action is superior to all other available methods for fairly and efficiently adjudicating the 

controversy.” 

a.  Predominance 

1.      Legal Standard 

 “[P]redominance . . . is perhaps the central and overriding prerequisite for a Rule 23(b)(3) 

class.” Vega, 564 F.3d at 1278. “[T]he issues in the class action that are subject to generalized 

proof, and thus applicable to the class as a whole, must predominate over those issues that are 

subject only to individualized proof.” Jackson, 130 F.3d at 1005 (internal quotations and citation 

omitted). “Common issues of fact and law predominate if they have a direct impact on every 

class member’s effort to establish liability and on every class member’s entitlement to . . . 

monetary relief.” Babineau v. Fed. Express Corp., 576 F.3d 1183, 1191 (11th Cir. 2009) 

(internal quotations and citations omitted). However, “common issues will not predominate over 

individual questions if, as a practical matter, the resolution of [an] overarching common issue 

breaks down into an unmanageable variety of individual legal and factual issues.” Id. (internal 

quotations and citations omitted).  

 In practical terms, the Eleventh Circuit has described the test for predominance in the 

following way:   
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Where, after adjudication of the classwide issues, plaintiffs must still 
introduce a great deal of individualized proof or argue a number of 
individualized legal points to establish most or all of the elements of their 
individual claims, such claims are not suitable for class certification under 
Rule 23(b)(3). 
 
. . .  
 
[I]f common issues truly predominate over individualized issues in a 
lawsuit, then the addition or subtraction of any of the plaintiffs to or from 
the class [should not] have a substantial effect on the substance or quantity 
of evidence offered.  
 
. . .  
 
Put simply, if the addition of more plaintiffs to a class requires the 
presentation of significant amounts of new evidence, that strongly suggests 
that individual issues (made relevant only through the inclusion of these 
new class members) are important. If, on the other hand, the addition of 
more plaintiffs leaves the quantum of evidence introduced by the plaintiffs 
as a whole relatively undisturbed, then common issues are likely to 
predominate. 
 

Vega, 564 F.3d at 1270 (quoting Klay, 382 F.3d at 1255). 

2.       Analysis 

 Plaintiff argues that common issues of fact or law predominate for two reasons. First, 

Plaintiff argues that the “issue of whether Defendant violated FACTA by systematically printing 

credit and debit card receipts that reveal purchasers’ card expiration dates and the first six digits 

of their account numbers directly impacts each class member’s ability to establish liability 

because a ‘yes’ to that question resolves the liability issue.” D.E. 37 p. 12. 

 Second, Plaintiff argues that because he, and other similarly situated putative class 

members, only seek statutory and punitive damages based on allegations that Defendant 

willfully, knowingly or reckless violated FACTA, there are no individualized damage issues, so 

common questions of law or fact predominate. Id.  
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 In response, Defendant contends that Plaintiff fails to meet his burden of proving that 

common issues of law or fact predominate over issues subject only to individualized proof 

because the Court will need to individually determine whether each putative class member is, in 

fact, a member of the class based on whether each individual received a printed receipt at the 

time of checking out of Defendant’s hotel. In other words, “Guarisma cannot escape the reality 

that the question of whether a guest received a printed folio at checkout requires an individual 

inquiry – an inquiry that cannot be resolved by reference to Hyatt’s records – and cannot be 

resolved on a class-wide basis.” D.E. 42 p. 27. 

 The Court agrees with Defendant. The predominance inquiry is “demanding” and 

“requires an examination of the claims, defenses, relevant facts, and applicable substantive law   

. . . to assess the degree to which resolution of the classwide issues will further each individual 

class member’s claim against the defendant.” Babineau v. Fed. Exp. Corp., 576 F.3d 1183, 1191 

(11th Cir. 2009) (internal citations omitted).  

 In this case, common questions of law or fact do not predominate over individual ones 

because, as discussed, each class member would have to submit evidence to show that they 

received a “receipt provided to the cardholder at the point of the sale or transaction” that violated 

FACTA. 15 U.S.C.A. § 1681c(g). In other words, because there is no evidence to show which 

customers requested a printed receipt at the “point of sale or transaction,” each putative class 

member would be required to submit individualized proof that he or she received a receipt at the 

time of checking out from Defendant’s hotel. D.E. 37; D.E. 45 p. 7; see also 15 U.S.C. § 

1681c(g)(1). Defendant would then have the right to challenge each individual class members’ 

evidence, thereby requiring that the Court hear and consider individualized evidence pertaining 

to whether as many as 219,087 individuals received a receipt at the point of sale or transaction. 
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Karhu, 621 F. App’x at 948-50; Bussey, 562 F. App’x at 787-88; Gazzara, 2017 WL 1331364, at 

*4. 

 Under these circumstances, there is no question that common issues of fact or law do not 

predominate over individual ones. Vega, 564 F.3d at 1274 (reversing class certification where 

“[s]orting out and proving the claims . . . would require substantial individualized evidence 

different from and in addition to that which [the named plaintiff] would proffer to establish his 

own claim”); Gazzara, No. 616CV657ORL31TBS, 2017 WL 1331364, at *4 (“The Plaintiffs 

argue that class members can self-identify, but the prospect of thousands of mini-trials (as Pulte 

challenges the homeowners’ membership in the class) renders that process administratively 

infeasible.”); Grimes, 264 F.R.D. at 665 (denying class certification where there was “no way to 

determine who was or was not issued a FACTA non-compliant receipt by Rave, except for those 

issued to Grimes, or to unknown and virtually unknowable persons who may have received and 

for some reason preserved them”); see also O'Neill v. The Home Depot U.S.A., Inc., 243 F.R.D. 

469, 482 (S.D. Fla. 2006), cause dismissed sub nom. O'Neill v. The Home Depot USA, Inc., No. 

05-61931CIV, 2007 WL 1718931 (S.D. Fla. Jan. 29, 2007) (denying class certification where 

plaintiff brought claim under FDUTPA because individual issues of causation would “result in a 

series of mini-trials for each putative class member”). 

 In fact, the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit recently affirmed denial 

of class certification under FACTA under similar circumstances, finding that common question 

of fact or law did not predominate because each class member would need to show that they 

received a receipt at the point of sale or, in other words, proffer individualized proof 

“transaction-by-transaction.” Ticknor v. Rouse’s Enterprises, L.L.C., 592 F. App’x 276, 278-79 

(5th Cir. 2014) (“We have held that class issues do not predominate when ‘transaction-by-
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transaction’ determinations are required . . . The plaintiffs contend that post-trial mechanisms, 

such as claims forms requiring plaintiffs to attach their credit card statements and store receipts, 

would eliminate the burdens of a transaction-by-transaction analysis. Credit card statements, 

though, would not demonstrate that the cardholder made the purchase . . . [B]ecause Rouse’s 

demonstrated that these elements differed as to the plaintiffs, the district court did not abuse its 

discretion in determining that these issues created predominance and manageability problems.”). 

 Thus, the Court finds that individual issues predominate over common ones, such that 

certification would be inappropriate. See Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3). 

b. Superiority of a class action 

 Because Plaintiff has failed to show that common issues predominate here, the Court 

need not address whether a class action mechanism is superior to other available methods for 

adjudicating this controversy. Nonetheless, the Eleventh Circuit has made clear that the 

superiority analysis is “intertwined with predominance analysis; when there are no predominant 

common issues of law or fact, class treatment would be either singularly inefficient . . . or 

unjust.” Klay, 382 F.3d at 1269 (quoting Shelley v. AmSouth Bank, No. 97-1170-RV-C, 2000 

WL 1121778, at *8 (S.D. Ala. July 24, 2000)). Since common issues of law and fact do not 

predominate in this case, the Court also concludes that Plaintiff fails to meet his burden of 

establishing superiority. Id.; Sacred Heart Health Sys., Inc., 601 F.3d at 1184 (noting that “the 

less common the issues, the less desirable a class action will be as a vehicle for resolving them”); 

see also Keller v. Macon Cty. Greyhound Park, Inc., No. 3:07-CV-1098-WKW, 2011 WL 

1085976, at *10 (M.D. Ala. Mar. 24, 2011) (“Furthermore, the predominance of factual and legal 

issues makes the class action the most desirable vehicle for adjudicating the claims Plaintiff 

Keller is asserting on behalf of the putative class.”).  
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 In addition, because FACTA “provides for an award of attorney's fees and costs in 

addition to statutory damages . . . there is no financial impediment for a person who receives a 

non-compliant receipt from finding a good lawyer to bring an individual claim.” Grimes, 264 

F.R.D. at 669. In other words, because “a person who seeks only statutory damages need only 

file suit, present his or her FACTA non-compliant receipt, prove some knowledge about FACTA 

by the vendor, and await a jury award of between $100 and $1,000, plus attorney’s fees and costs 

. . . [i]ndividual actions are not only feasible, but they are much more manageable than a class 

action would be, especially where there might be victims in many states.” Id. Thus, a class action 

is not the clearly superior method for fairly and efficiently adjudicating this controversy. 

Accordingly, it is   

 ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that Plaintiff’s Motion, D.E. 37, is DENIED. 

 DONE AND ORDERED in Chambers, Miami, Florida, this _28th__ day of September, 

2017. 

         ________________________________ 
         URSULA UNGARO 
         UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 
copies provided: counsel of record 
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